## **RECEIVED**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

## 08-10-2015

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

Appellate Case No. 2015AP00997 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRADLEY L. KILGORE,

Defendant-Appellant.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Sheboygan County, the Honorable Terence T. Bourke Presiding Trial Court Case No. 13 CF 475

Respectfully Submitted:

KIRK OBEAR AND ASSSOCIATES

603 South Eighth Street P.O. Box 935

Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53082-0935

Telephone: (920) 395 2200 Facsimile: (920) 395 2202

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT1
STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE 2-9
ARGUMENT 9-21
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT KILGORE WAS NOT IN CUSTODY WHEN POLICE INTERROGATED HIM DURING THE EXECUTION OF THE SEARCH WARRANT
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED TO OBTAIN KILGORE'S DNA
CONCLUSION
APPENDIX

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Supreme Court Cases:
California v. Beheler, 463 U.S.1121, 103 S. Ct. 3517 (1983)12
Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)17
Maryland v. King, 569 U.S, 133 S. Ct. 1958 (2013) 18
Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 94 S. Ct. 2357 (1974)
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966) 12
7 <sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals Cases:
United States v. Briggs, 273 F.3d 737, 740 (7 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) 10
Wisconsin Cases:
Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 407, 193 N.W. 89 (1923)15
State v. Banks, 328 Wis. 2d 766, 790 N.W.2d 526 (2010) 18
State v. Benoit, 83 Wis.2d 389, 265 N.W.2d 298 (1978) 17
State v. Goetz, 249 Wis 2d 380, 638 N W 2d 386 (2001) 14

State	v. Gruen, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 582 N.W.2d 728 (1998)13
~	•
State	v. Higginbotham, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991)
State	v. Mann, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985) 18
State	v. Mosher, 221 Wis. 2d 203, 584 N.W.2d 553 (1998) 9
State	v. Multaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437 (2002) 16
State	v. Pounds, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 500 N.W.2d 373 (1993) 13
State	v. Reed, 280 Wis. 2d 68, 695 N.W.2d 31515

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER OFFICERS UNLAWFULLY INTERROGATED THE DEFENDANT WHILE EXECUTING A SEARCH WARRANT WITHOUT ADVISING THE DEFENDANT OF HIS MIRANDA RIGHTS?

Trial Court Answered: No.

II. WHETHER PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED TO ISSUE THE SEARCH WARRANT FOR THE DEFENDANT'S DNA?

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant (hereinafter Kilgore) believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), stats., the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expense of court time.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Kilgore believes publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule 809.23(1)(b), stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law to a common fact situation.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On April 12, 2013, Sheboygan Police Officer Dustin Fickett met with K.A.B. (D.O.B. 12/16/1988) at Sheboygan Memorial Medical Center to investigate a reported sexual assault.(R1 at 3, Appendix at 103). K.A.B. informed Officer Fickett that the night before she ran into an old friend, "David Peters" (hereinafter Peters) at the Skipper Inn bar in Sheboygan, Wisconsin. (R1 at 4, Appendix at 104). K.A.B. stated that Peters was with his "roommate Brad" that night, whom K.A.B. did not know. "Brad" was later identified Kilgore. K.A.B. gave Peters her cell phone number, and at approximately 1:45 AM, Peters called K.A.B. and

invited her to his house. (Id). Peters was waiting outside for K.A.B. when she arrived.

Once inside, K.A.B. asked Peters for Tylenol which K.A.B. took without examining. (Id). K.A.B. also drank a beverage made by Kilgore. Peters showed K.A.B. "needles for H", referring to heroin, in his dresser drawer. (R1 at 6, Appendix at 106). The last thing that K.A.B. claims to remember was sitting in a blue chair with Peters. (R1 at 4, Appendix at 104).

At approximately 1:00 PM the following day, K.A.B. reported waking up in Peters' bed, clothed only in an undershirt. (Id). She began vomiting, left the residence and drove to work. Later that day, K.A.B. went to the hospital, where she met Officer Fickett.

On April 16, 2013, Sheboygan Police Detective Tamara Remington provided an Affidavit in Support of a Search Warrant that included a request to obtain a buccal swab from Kilgore. (R1 at 7, Appendix at 107). It further stated,

"Your Affiant is aware, from her training and experience, that a buccal swab taken from an individual can be provided to the State Crime Lab to be used as a standard sample for the purpose of matching DNA seized at a crime scene to a person's DNA profile...

Your affiant believes that the DNA obtained from Peters and Kilgore could be compared to any DNA obtained from the rape examination that was conducted on Victim [K.A.B.] at the SMMC.

Court Commissioner Rebecca Persick authorized the search warrant on April 16, 2015.

On the same day, at approximately 1:49 PM, the SWAT team executed the search warrant at 1117A S. 16<sup>th</sup> Street, in Sheboygan, Wisconsin. (R90 at 6, Appendix at 136). The SWAT team was equipped with bulletproof vests, helmets, and weapons (Id). There were twelve officers involved in the execution of the search warrant. (R28 at 2, Appendix at 112). Officers Brandon Kehoe and Matthew Braesch handcuffed

Kilgore and forced him, face down, to the ground with an M-4 rifle pointed at his head in the kitchen as the rest of the residence was cleared. (Id).

After the house was cleared, Kilgore was uncuffed and moved from the floor but ordered to remain seated and was not free to leave. (R90 at 10-11, Appendix at 140-41). Detective Remington engaged in direct questioning in relation to the sexual assault allegation. (R90 at 14, Appendix at 144). Kilgore was never read his Miranda rights and was not told that he was not under arrest. During the interrogation, Detectives Paul Olsen and Matthew Walsh and Officer Charlet Endsley were present in the residence and Captain James Veeser remained in the same room as Kilgore.

In response to Detective Remington's questions,
Kilgore made statements that confirmed a "nice white
girl" came over on the evening of the alleged assault,

that he made her a drink, that drugs were used in the residence that evening, that the girl was in Peters' room that evening, and that Kilgore's DNA would not be found on her because he did not touch her. (R90 at 12-16, Appendix at 142-46). After showing Kilgore the warrant, Detective Remington then required Kilgore to submit to a buccal swab for the purpose of collecting his DNA. (R90 at 23, Appendix at 153).

At a suppression hearing on April 21, 2014, Detective Remington testified that Kilgore was only someone that must be ruled out; he was not a suspect. (R90 at 19-20, Appendix at 149-50). Detective Remington acknowledged that there was no probable cause to believe that Kilgore committed a crime. (R90 at 20, Appendix at 150). Detective Remington further claimed that she had not "even thought of Bradley personally" when she went to obtain the search warrant. (Id). When asked to confirm that she didn't

view him as a suspect, Detective Remington responded, "I thought that DNA would clear him". (R90 at 22, Appendix at 152). Detective Remington stated that Peters was a very dangerous, frequent criminal suspect. (R90 at 18, Appendix at 148). The Sheboygan Police Department did not have those concerns with Kilgore. (Id).

With this new information, Kilgore filed an additional suppression motion, challenging the probable cause of the search warrant that allowed the Sheboygan Police Department to collect his DNA.

During the hearing on April 23, 2014, the Court held that Kilgore was not in custody when he was questioned by Detective Remington. The Court relied on the following factors to explain its holding: (1) the time of day was neutral to both parties; (2) Kilgore was released from handcuffs after the initial raid; (3) Kilgore was allowed to sit in a chair in the living room;

(4) Kilgore no longer had the gun pointed at his head at the time of questioning; (5) the police did not threaten Kilgore; (6) the questioning primarily concerned Peters; and (7) according to Detective Remington, Kilgore was cooperative. (R91 at 9-10, Appendix at 200-01).

In regards to the motion challenging the warrant, the Court held that "there was a fair probability that evidence would be located" and denied the motion. The State introduced the DNA results at trial through Analyst Ronald Witucki (R93, R94). Analyst Witucki testified to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the DNA sample taken from Kilgore was consistent with the male DNA found on the cervical swabs, vaginal swabs, rectal swabs, and the gauze taken from K.A.B. during the sexual assault examination. (R93 at 262). Additionally, the State introduced the statements made by Kilgore at trial through Detective Remington. (R95). On November 6, 2014, the jury returned a verdict

of guilty and Kilgore was sentenced to ten year prison sentence. (R80).

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT KILGORE WAS NOT IN CUSTODY WHEN POLICE INTERROGATED HIM WHILE EXECUTING THE SEARCH WARRANT

### A. Standard of Review

Whether a person is in custody for Miranda purposes is a question of law this court reviews independently. State v. Mosher, 221 Wis. 2d 203, 211, 584 N.W.2d 553 (Ct. App. 1998). This court reviews with deference the circuit court's factual findings. Id. at 211-12, 584 N.W.2d 553. However, this court independently determines whether under the facts, Kilgore was in custody at the time she made her statements. See id.

B. Kilgore was Interrogated by Law Enforcement

Interrogation, so as to trigger the right to counsel means direct questioning by the police, as well as any words or actions on the part of the police that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect. United States v. Briggs, 273 F.3d 737, 740 (7th Cir. 2001)

Unless law enforcement officers give certain specified warnings before questioning a person in custody, and follow certain specified procedures during the course of a subsequent interrogation, any statement made by the person in custody over his objection be admitted in evidence against him as a defendant at trial, even though the statement may be in fact be wholly voluntary. Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 443, 94 S. Ct. 2357 (1974).

Detective Remington admitted asking Kilgore direct questions that related to the sexual assault investigation. That fact that Kilgore appeared cooperative does not negate the fact that law enforcement questioned him without advising him of his rights. And although questions primarily concerned Kilgore's knowledge of Peters', Kilgore's responses concerning his knowledge of K.A.B. and his activity on the night of the alleged assault clearly could be incriminating in nature. In fact, Kilgore's statements were used against him during the fourth day of his jury trial. It is objectively unreasonable to suggest that although the detectives were directly questioning Kilgore, his statements given were not wholly voluntarily offered, but in fact responsive.

C. Kilgore was in Custody When the Police Interrogated Him

In order to protect a citizen's right against self-incrimination guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment, the United States Supreme Court held in Miranda that suspects must be read certain warnings before they are questioned. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966). A suspect must be in custody to trigger the Miranda requirements. Id. A person is in custody for purposes of Miranda if the person is either formally arrested or has suffered a restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest. California v. Beheler, 463 U.S.1121, 1125, 103 S. Ct. 3517 (1983).

In determining whether an individual is in custody for the purpose of Miranda warnings, the circuit court should consider the totality of the circumstances, including such factors as: the

defendant's freedom to leave, the purpose, place and length of the interrogation, and the degree of restraint. State v. Gruen, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 594, 582 N.W.2d 728, 733 (1998). In exploring the degree of restraint, courts have considered as relevant factors: (1) whether the defendant was handcuffed; (2) whether a gun was drawn on the defendant; (3) whether a Terry frisk was performed; (4) the manner in which the defendant was restrained; (5) whether the defendant was moved to another location; (7) the number of police officers involved. State v. Pounds, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 322, 500 N.W.2d 373, 377 (1993).

In this case, the trial court erred when it determined that Kilgore was not in custody. The trial court analogized this case to State v. Goetz. In that case, the court found that Goetz was not in custody, although she was present and questioned during the execution of a search warrant. 249, Wis. 2d 380, 638

N.W.2d 386 (2001). However, this case is readily distinguishable. In Goetz, police informed Goetz that she was not under arrest and did not intend her unless she obstructed and Goetz verbally acknowledged that she understood. Goetz, 249 Wis. 2d at 382. Goetz was never placed in handcuffs prior to or during interrogation, and never had a gun drawn on her person.

In this case, twelve officers fully equipped with SWAT gear stormed the residence. Two police officers forced Kilgore to the ground by pointing an M-4 assault rifle at his head. Although the officers later holstered their weapons, Kilgore was ordered to remain seated in the chair, surrounded by no less than four law enforcement officers at any time. When Kilgore attempted to leave the seat, officers again ordered that he remain seated. Kilgore was never read his Miranda rights and was never told that he was not under arrest.

In fact, Detective Remington admitted under oath that Kilgore was not free to leave. Given the totality of the circumstances, an objective person would not have felt free to leave in Kilgore's situation.

In State v. Reed, 280 Wis. 2d 68, 695 N.W.2d 315, the Wisconsin Supreme Court depicted the Fifth Amendment as providing a shield that protects against compelled self-incrimination. By its very nature, the Miranda warnings secure the integrity of that shield-and to be sure, that shield is made of substance, not tinsel. Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 407, 413, 193 N.W. 89 (1923). The trial court erred in determining that Kilgore was not in custody. Because the officers interrogated Kilgore while he was in custody without reading him his Miranda warnings, Kilgore's statements made during the course of the interrogation should have been suppressed and not allowed into evidence at trial.

# II. PROBABLE CAUSE DID NOT EXIST FOR THE SEARCH WARRANT TO OBTAIN KILGORE'S DNA

### A. Standard of Review

This court gives great deference to a court's determination of probable cause to issue a warrant, and the defendant bears the burden of challenging probable cause. State v. Multaler, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437 (2002). The court may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence presented and must make a practical, commonsense determination whether, based on that evidence and under all the circumstances, a fair probability exists that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found at the place to be searched. 252 Wis. 2d at 62.

B. Probable Cause Did Not Exist to Issue a Search Warrant to Obtain Kilgore's DNA

The duty of the court issuing the warrant is to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the

circumstances set forth in the affidavit before it, there is a probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. State v. Higginbotham, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 990, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991). The warrant judge may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence presented in the affidavit. State v. Benoit, 83 Wis.2d 389, 399, 265 N.W.2d 298 (1978).

A defendant has the right under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution to challenge the truthfulness completeness of the factual statements made in an affidavit supporting a search warrant which is later executed. Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978). Where a defendant makes a substantial showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the search warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request. Franks, supra, 438 U.S. at 155-56. This rule of law extends to necessary facts which are intentionally omitted by the affiant. State v. Mann, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985).

The seizure of a defendant's DNA by means of a buccal swab is a search under the Fourth Amendment, and therefore, the search requires a warrant supported by probable cause, or an exception to the warrant requirement must exist. Maryland v. King, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 1958 (2013). State v. Banks, 328 Wis. 2d 766, 778-79, 790 N.W.2d 526, 532 (2010).

Here, the unstated intent of Detective Remington was to "exclude" someone as a suspect. Her affidavit summarized the investigation up to that point, including information provided by K.A.B. The majority of the information related to K.A.B.'s knowledge of Peters, but

did reference some identifying information regarding Kilgore. The information included Kilgore's presence at the bar with Peters before K.A.B. went to the residence, and that Kilgore made a drink for her when she came to their residence after leaving the bar. The affidavit implies that Kilgore is a possible suspect, although the great weight of the evidence relates to the involvement of Peters.

According to the affidavit, the buccal swab obtained from Kilgore was for the purpose of matching that DNA to that found during the sexual assault exam of K.A.B. Nowhere in the affidavit did it state that the affiant's main purpose of collecting Kilgore's DNA was to exclude him because law enforcement did not view him as a suspect.

The circuit court erred when it found that there was a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in that particular place. Although it

stands to reason that Kilgore's DNA would be found in his own residence, it does not in turn rise to the level of a fair probability that Kilgore's DNA would be present on items related to the alleged sexual assault. K.A.B. remembered being in Peters' room with Peters', not Kilgore prior to losing her memory. K.A.B. woke up in Peters' room in a partially undressed state. She did not recall having any contact with Kilgore in Peters' room the previous night or that afternoon.

Kilgore did not consent to the buccal swab. He only complied after being shown the search warrant and being informed by Detective Remington that he was required to allow law enforcement to obtain a sample. Therefore, the search warrant was necessary to obtain the DNA sample. The purpose of that buccal swab was to compare Kilgore's DNA to the evidence collected for the sexual assault investigation. Detective Remington

testified that she believed DNA would clear Kilgore; she did not view him as a suspect.

At the time of the warrant issuance, the detective applying for the search warrant did not believe that probable cause existed to connect Kilgore with the criminal activity alleged by K.A.B. Had that information been shared with a reasonable magistrate the warrant would not have been issued. Because the sample was unlawfully obtained through an invalid search warrant, the physical evidence should have been suppressed. Had the evidence not been admitted at trial, there is a high probability that the trial would have had an alternative outcome.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Kilgore respectfully asserts that the trial court erred when it denied Kilgore's motion to suppress evidence based on a violation of his Miranda rights. Additionally, Kilgore respectfully asserts that the trial court erred when it denied his motion to suppress evidence based on a lack of probable cause to obtain a sample of his DNA. Therefore, Kilgore requests that this Court reverse the trial court's denial of the motions, and remand the case for a new jury trial.