RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-24-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP997-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRADLEY L. KILGORE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1420 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) perlmandh@doj.state.wi.us

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

I. KILGORE'S STATEMENTS TO DETECTIVE REMINGTON WERE ADMISSIBLE BECAUSE THEY WERE VOLUNTARY AND A *MIRANDA* WARNING WAS NOT REQUIRED BECAUSE KILGORE WAS NOT IN CUSTODY.

A. Applicable Law.

Whether a person is in custody for $Miranda^1$ purposes is a question of law where the circuit court's findings of fact are given deference but the determination as to whether those facts constitute custody is reviewed de novo. *State v. Goetz*, 2001 WI App 294, ¶ 8, 249 Wis. 2d. 380, 638 N.W.2d 386. The test is whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would consider himself or herself to be in custody given the degree of restraint present. *State v. Greun*, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 593, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis. 2d 437, 446-47, 475 N.W.2d 148 (1991)). A custody determination for *Miranda* purposes is based on the totality of the circumstances. *California v. Beheler*, 464 U.S. 1121, 1125 (1983).

Among the relevant factors that a court examines in a *Miranda* custody determination are: 1) whether the defendant was handcuffed; 2) whether a gun was drawn on the defendant; 3) whether a *Terry*² frisk was performed; 4) the manner in which the defendant was restrained; 5) whether the defendant was moved to another location; 6) whether the questioning took place in a police vehicle; and 7)

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

² Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

the number of police officers allowed. *Greun*, 218 Wis. 2d at 594-95 (footnotes omitted).

A person detained during the execution of a search warrant has not suffered a restraint to the degree associated with a formal arrest, and is not in custody for purposes of a *Miranda* analysis. *Goetz*, 249 Wis. 2d 380, ¶ 12. Detention in a person's home lacks the inconvenience or shame associated with a compelled visit to the police station. *Id*.

A fair summary of the applicable law is that the test as to whether a person is in custody for *Miranda* purposes is an objective one based on the totality of the circumstances. Among the relevant circumstances is whether the subject is arrested, is handcuffed, is at gun point, has been subjected to a frisk, has been moved to another location, is questioned in a police car or station, and the number of officers involved. The detention inherent to an execution of a search warrant is viewed as far less restrained than an arrest and, without other factors, is not considered custody for *Miranda* purposes.

B. Application of Facts to the Law.

Kilgore does not argue that his statements were involuntary. As there is no dispute that Kilgore was not advised of his *Miranda* protections, the admissibility of his statement hinges solely on whether he was in custody when he talked to Detective Remington.³

³ At the motion hearing the state argued that, regardless of custody, the statements should be admissible since they were not the product of an interrogation. The trial court did not rule on this issue, finding instead that Kilgore was not in custody. On appeal, the state concedes that no matter how friendly the discussion and how cooperative and eager Kilgore was to talk, the discussion touched areas where Kilgore could be potentially exposed to self-incrimination.

This case involves a radical transformation from a dvnamic, high-risk SWAT-team-assisted execution of a search warrant to relaxed non-confrontational а conversation in Kilgore's living room, where Kilgore was not under arrest, was not handcuffed, was sitting in his living room chair and was asked very few, if any, questions of an accusatorial nature. So, at the beginning of the contact, there is no question that Kilgore was in custody for *Miranda* purposes, and, in a vacuum, there would be little question that Kilgore was not in custody when he talked to Detective Remington. The issue therefore is whether the initial environment was so coercive that it was incapable of being tempered to a non-custodial ambiance, no matter the intervening mitigating factors. The state concedes that it is generally an uphill climb to morph a situation where the police draw guns, handcuff a subject and place him on the floor, while a heavily armed SWAT team secures the home, to a non-custodial setting. But the subsequent factors here, after the home was secured, are so compelling that this difficult hurdle is cleared.

After the home was secured, the heavily armed SWAT team left the scene. This not only served to diffuse the danger of the situation but sent a clear message that the police no longer felt they were in a threatening situation. Police removed Kilgore's handcuffs, again sending a dual message; his restraint was lessened and the police's trust in him had increased. Only two officers stayed with Kilgore and the scene moved to the comfortable setting of Kilgore's living room. Kilgore sat in one of his living room chairs while Detective Remington walked about and never stood over him. Kilgore's phone rang often and the police allowed Kilgore to answer his phone (90:14). Kilgore told the police about problems he was having with his landlord and Detective Remington offered to intervene on his behalf in the dispute (90:13). There was a lot of small talk about computer games Kilgore liked to play and about Kilgore's daughter. Throughout the contact, Kilgore was cooperative and very talkative (90:13-14). All of these circumstances are typical of a detention pursuant to the execution of a search warrant and not of custody for *Miranda* purposes.

Pursuant to the search warrant, the police explained to Kilgore that they needed a buccal swab, Kilgore said "no problem," and cooperated with the procedure. Kilgore told Remington that he never touched K.A.B. and his DNA would not be on her or in her (90:12). Indeed for all his talking, Kilgore said nothing inculpatory, steadfastly denying any knowledge of or any participation in any assault on K.A.B. Throughout the contact, the officers did not threaten or promise Kilgore anything or treat him in a manner suggesting that they did not believe him.

Kilgore criticizes the trial court for leaning heavily on *Goetz* in reaching its conclusion that Kilgore was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes (Kilgore's brief at 13-14). Kilgore is correct that there are factual differences between the two cases. In *Goetz*, the police handcuffed the defendant after he talked, while here the police handcuffed Kilgore before he talked. In both cases, neither subject was handcuffed during the interview. In *Goetz*, police told the subject that she was not under arrest, and never drew a gun on her person. Here Remington never told Kilgore that he was not under arrest, though the nature of the contact and the discussion in the living room would make this self-evident. The police initially drew a gun on Kilgore, but the officers holstered their weapons during the living room contact.

There are also differences that made the *Goetz* environment more coercive than what was present here. In *Goetz*, police asked the subject pointed accusatorial questions about her drug involvement. No accusatorial questions were posed to Kilgore. The subject in *Goetz* even admitted to drug activity and showed the police where her drugs were hidden and was not *Mirandized*. Here, there were no admissions, and no escorting of the police to incriminating evidence. No matter the differences, *Goetz* is illuminating for this case, because it holds that the detention

inherent to the execution of a search warrant is not custody for *Miranda* purposes. And the only factor suggesting custody in this case, during the living room contact, was the fact that Kilgore was not free to go because of the ongoing execution of the search warrant. Accordingly, the trial court properly referenced *Goetz* as support for the notion that detention during a search warrant does not by itself constitute custody for *Miranda* purposes (91:9). The trial court noted how dramatically things changed from the initial police contact with Kilgore to the living room questioning. The court observed,

And Mr. Kilgore's conduct was, in the words of Detective Remington, very cooperative. He was very cooperative. So it doesn't appear that he was intimidated by the situation. So as I look at all the factors, I believe that he was not in custody. This was not a situation where a reasonable person would think that this was more than a temporary detention.

(91:10).

The state respectfully submits that the court properly admitted Kilgore's statements to Detective Remington at trial.

II. IF THIS COURT DETERMINES THAT THE COURT SHOULD HAVE SUPPRESSED KILGORE'S STATEMENTS, IT IS A HARMLESS ERROR AND THIS COURT SHOULD STILL AFFIRM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION.

As argued above, the state believes that the trial court was correct in admitting Kilgore's statements at trial since he was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes when he talked to Detective Remington. But if this court finds that the trial ruling on this issue was improper, such a mistake constitutes harmless error and therefore should not trigger a remand for a new trial. Kilgore's statements were of limited utility to the prosecution, since he denied any wrongdoing and did not say anything that even hinted at selfincrimination. Indeed, the only value Kilgore's statements seemed to have for the prosecutor is that Kilgore's denial provided an easy launching point for the argument that Kilgore knew that K.A.B. was incapable of giving consent, since he denied the contact rather than attempting to explain it. (*See* prosecutor's closing argument at 95:245.) But, as will be discussed below, there was other evidence from which the jury could easily infer that Kilgore must have known that K.A.B. was too disabled to give consent.

A. Applicable Law.

The test for harmless error is whether the beneficiary of the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. *State v. Hunt,* 2014 WI 102, ¶ 26, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. In other words, an error is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the error, the jury would still have found the defendant guilty.

An assertion of harmless error is not defeated simply by showing that the jury likely relied on the erroneously admitted evidence. Instead the reviewing court should consider the error in the context of the whole trial and consider the strength of the untainted evidence. *State v. Thoms*, 228 Wis. 2d 868, 873, 599 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1999). The courts weigh the effect of the inadmissible evidence against the totality of the other evidence supporting the verdict. *State v. Britt*, 203 Wis. 2d 25, 41, 553 N.W.2d 528 (Ct. App. 1996).

A fair summary of the law is that an error is considered harmless if without the tainted evidence, the state can show beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached the same verdict. Even if the jury appeared to rely to any extent on the tainted evidence, a harmless error finding is still viable, if within the context of the whole trial, the totality of the non-tainted evidence supports the verdict.

B. Application of Facts to the Law.

In this case, the non-tainted evidence against Kilgore was straightforward and compelling. The jury heard that after drinking at two clubs, went to K.A.B.. the Kilgore/Peters residence in the early morning hours. There she remembered Kilgore giving her an orange drink and Peters providing her two pills, supposedly ibuprofen. Shortly thereafter she passed out and had no recollection until she was awakened at 1 p.m. Upon leaving the Kilgore/Peters residence and attempting to drive to work, K.A.B. found herself disoriented, dizzy, and unable to drive. She pulled over and called a friend to help her. K.A.B. was observed to be incoherent, hysterical, and confused, and had pronounced hickeys on her face and chest area. K.A.B. was ultimately taken to Sheboygan Memorial Hospital where she was examined for a possible sexual assault. K.A.B. had various bruises on her legs, arms, and buttocks area and had a blood alcohol level of .029 as well as the presence of zolpidem in her system. The jury heard that, based on her alcohol and zolpidem levels at 4 p.m., it could be determined that the amount of each drug in her system, when she claimed to have passed out would be sufficient to render her seriously depressed, disoriented, and at a point where her body would seek an unconscious state. Male DNA was found in the cervical, vaginal and rectal areas, and on gauze swabs taken from K.A.B. The jury heard that this male DNA, to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty, belonged to Bradley Kilgore. And the jury heard that the amount of Kilgore's DNA found in K.A.B was consistent with sexual contact, such as penile penetration.

The allegedly tainted evidence, Kilgore's statements to Detective Remington, add very little to the above-described picture of a sexual assault of a person incapable of giving consent. Kilgore's statements were presented to the jury

through the testimony of Detective Remington. Kilgore's statements do place him at the scene, but it was his residence, K.A.B. placing him there, and his presence when K.A.B. arrived that were not in dispute. Kilgore's statements did show that there was drinking, but that also was not in dispute. Indeed, Kilgore's statements emphasized how much K.A.B. had been drinking and how she had been the instigator in her consumption of both alcohol and drugs Kilgore's statements denied (95:188-89).anv real involvement with K.A.B., explaining that her contact was primarily with Peters (95:190). Kilgore's statements included a complete denial of any physical contact with K.A.B. So, the allegedly tainted statements exposed the jury to Kilgore's denial of any wrongdoing or any physical contact with K.A.B. And the statements showed K.A.B. as a willing participant in drinking and the taking of drugs with David Peters. It is hard to see how these statements pushed the needle towards a guilty verdict.

The value of Kilgore's statements to the prosecution is that it removed an argument that Kilgore did not know K.A.B. could not grant consent—one of the elements of the charged crime. But there was ample untainted evidence to make this point. K.A.B. testified that she blacked out and remembers nothing until she woke up many hours later at 1 p.m. While this testimony could be dismissed as selfserving, it was supported by the toxicological evidence presented to the jury, showing that her alcohol and zolpidem intake was consistent with the amount necessary to render her unconscious.

The state recognizes that during its deliberations the jury asked to have the court read to it the portion of Detective Remington's testimony dealing with what Kilgore told her during the execution of the search warrant—the allegedly tainted evidence (95:286). It is difficult to guess what the jurors' concerns might have been but it is not surprising that they would want to be sure as to what Kilgore said, as this was the only direct evidence of Kilgore's point of view. The jury again heard Kilgore's denial of wrongdoing. It is unlikely that this proved critical in its deliberations but even if it was a factor, a harmless error argument is not defeated by a showing that the jury likely relied on the tainted evidence, *see Thoms*, 228 Wis. 2d at 873, if, as is the case here, in the context of the entire trial there is sufficient strength in the untainted evidence, by itself, to support the jury verdict.

In sum, the trial court was correct in admitting into evidence Kilgore's statements. But if this court deems the trial court was wrong on this issue, those statements constituted harmless error.

III. THE SEARCH WARRANT FOR A BUCCAL SWAB OF KILGORE'S INNER FACIAL CHEEK WAS BASED ON PROBABLE CAUSE AND WAS PROPERLY ISSUED BY THE MAGISTRATE.

Kilgore argues that since the police had initially felt Peters was more likely than Kilgore to have committed the assault, the police only should have sought a search warrant for Peters' DNA sample. It is no secret that the police thought that Peters was the better candidate to be the perpetrator. But as will be argued below, when the police are faced with two possible perpetrators of a serious crime, and the victim cannot identify one of them as the criminal, the sensible thing to do is to investigate both possibilities.⁴

A. Applicable Law.

A search warrant may be issued only upon a finding of probable cause by a detached magistrate. *State v. DeSmidt*, 155 Wis. 2d 119, 131, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990). The issuing

⁴ The DNA evidence was crucial to the jury's verdict. Accordingly, the state does not make a harmless error claim, in the event this court rules that the search warrant was improvidently granted.

judge's determination of probable cause is accorded great deference. *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991).

When considering whether to issue a search warrant, the magistrate makes a common sense decision, whether given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence will be found in a particular place. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The issuing magistrate must be apprised of sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that objects sought will be found in the place to be searched. State v. Schaefer, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 5, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760. The probable cause determination is made on a case-by-case basis, based on the totality of the circumstances. Id. ¶ 17.

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